FILED 7/31/2017 3:37 PM Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

SUPREME COURT NO
COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION 1, NO. 74654-5-I
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE
(Whatcom County Court Case No. 14-2-01483-6)
MILTON LONG, individually and as the Personal Representative of the ESTATE OF DONALD RODENBECK,
, ,
the ESTATE OF DONALD RODENBECK,
the ESTATE OF DONALD RODENBECK,  Petitioners/Respondents,

# **PETITION FOR REVIEW**

Douglas R. Shepherd, WSBA #9514 Bethany C. Allen, WSBA #41180 SHEPHERD and ALLEN 2011 Young Street, Suite 202 Bellingham, WA 98225 (360) 733-3773 or 647-4567

#

## A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Milton Long, individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of Donald Rodenbeck (Long), asks the Court to grant review of the Court of Appeals decision identified in Part B.

## B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISIONS

Petitioner seeks review of the May 15, 2017, Court of Appeals unpublished opinion reversing the post-trial decision of Judge Matthew Elich. Judge Elich determined Judge Garrett's examination of PeaceHealth's expert witness, Dr. Quigley, were unconstitutional comments on the evidence. See Judge Elich's decision(s), Appendix B1-18. The Court of Appeals erroneously determined Judge Garrett's examination of expert witnesses were "meaningless expressions," and not constitutionally prohibited comments on the evidence. See Opinion, Appendix A1-13. Long filed a timely motion to publish the opinion, which was denied on June 30, 2017. See Court's Order, Appendix A-14.

#### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. As a matter of first impression, can a trial court judge's questions of a witness, and words in response to those questions in front of

a jury be "meaningless expression," and not fall within the constitutional prohibition on judicial comments on the evidence<sup>1</sup>? [No.]

- 2. Did Judge Garrett's words and comments express a belief or disbelief regarding the evidence? [Yes.]
- 3. Did Judge Garrett enter into the "fray of combat," and assume the role of the attorneys in violation of Article 4, Section 16 of the Washington State Constitution? [Yes.]
- 4. Was Long prejudiced by Judge Garrett's comments on the evidence? [Yes.]

## D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Milton Long and Donald Rodenbeck (Rodenbeck) were committed intimate partners for more than 30 years. RP 220. In 2007, when allowed by Washington law, they became registered domestic partners. RP 220; Ex. 1. In 2012, Rodenbeck decided to undergo elective surgery to improve the circulation in one of his legs. RP 235.

On August 10, 2012, Rodenbeck, age 72, was admitted to PeaceHealth's hospital for aortobifemoral bypass surgery. Ex. 49. The surgery was intended to increase his mobility and decrease pain. *Id.* Rodenbeck's surgery was complicated by a cut to his small bowel during

2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> "Judges shall not charge juries with respect to matter of fact, nor comment thereon, but shall declare the law." Constitution of the state of Washington, Article 4, Section 16.

surgery. *Id.*; Ex. 52. Dr. Pietro repaired the bowel during the surgery. *Id.*Dr. Zastrow charted Rodenbeck tolerated the surgery and procedures well. *Id.* 

Post-surgery, Rodenbeck was diagnosed with acute blood loss anemia. Ex. 57. A blood transfusion was ordered and administered "stat." *Id.* On August 11, 2012, Rodenbeck was again diagnosed with blood loss anemia. Ex. 59. On the morning of August 12, a second blood transfusion was administered. Ex. 61.

Rodenbeck was a known fall risk due to his surgery and related issues (i.e. medications, central line, etc.). CP 1916; RP 2391-95; RP 207; Ex. 30. Nurse Dimalla testified everyone should know Rodenbeck, while in the care of PeaceHealth, was a fall risk. *Id.* PeaceHealth's charting demonstrated Rodenbeck was tachycardic every time his vitals were checked after surgery. After being diagnosed with blood loss anemia and tachycardia, Rodenbeck, at 6:30 p.m. on August 12, was transferred from the ICU to the Third Floor Recovery unit. Ex. 56.

PeaceHealth policies required a yellow fall risk arm band be placed on all fall risk patients. No armband was placed on Rodenbeck, in violation of written policy. RP 2393. Upon transfer from ICU to the 3<sup>rd</sup> floor, PeaceHealth caregivers taking over Rodenbeck's care were not aware nor advised he was a fall risk. Nurse Johnson does not remember

Assistant Rumyantseva was not advised that Rodenbeck was a fall risk. RP 2445. She did not advise her evening replacement that Rodenbeck was a fall risk. Id. PeaceHealth had a "Safe Handoff Communication Patient Care Policy." Ex. 13. The policy applied when transferring Rodenbeck from the ICU to the 3<sup>rd</sup> floor. *Id.* PeaceHealth did not comply with this written policy. There was no communication of Rodenbeck's risk of falling between any PeaceHealth caregivers. RP 379.

On August 12, just before midnight, a nursing assistant opened the closed door to Rodenbeck's room, turned on the lights and found Rodenbeck on the floor, in a pool of blood, dead and cold to the touch. RP 871; RP 2422; RP 1601-02. It was likely Rodenbeck had been on the floor, dead, a long time. RP 1661-62. At trial, the nursing assistant in charge of Rodenbeck's care, admitted that she incorrectly "accidently" charted the following in Rodenbeck's medical chart after his death: "up with activities at 23:58." RP 1603. (Emphasis added.)

On the morning of August 13, 2012, more than one hour after Rodenbeck died, Dr. Zastrow charted Rodenbeck fell unattended, and was found dead lying in a "pool of blood." Dr. Zastrow also charted she expected the Whatcom County Coroner to examine Rodenbeck's death. Ex. 3.

Long was called shortly before midnight. RP 226. PeaceHealth's "head nurse" told Long: "Mr. Rodenbeck fell out of bed." RP 227. She next said she had just been informed Rodenbeck was dead. RP 227. Long told her he was coming to the hospital. *Id.* At PeaceHealth, Dr. Zastrow apologized and said: "Nothing like this has ever happened to me like this before." RP 229-30. Dr. Zastrow told Long that Rodenbeck had gotten up, fell on the floor, dislodged his central line and bled to death on the floor. Dr. Zastrow used the term "bled out." RP 230.

Dr. Zastrow apparently left it up to the PeaceHealth House Manager to contact the coroner.<sup>2</sup> RP 1365. No PeaceHealth employee remembered talking to the coroner. Before someone contacted the coroner and Rodenbeck's body was moved, the "pool of blood" was cleaned and disposed of, Rodenbeck's body was cleaned and moved to the bed and then to the hospital morgue. RP 293. The coroner declined jurisdiction.

On August 15, 2012, PeaceHealth, pursuant to Washington law, reported Rodenbeck's death as an adverse or sentinel event. Ex. 35. On August 16, 2012, Dr. Zastrow completed Rodenbeck's death certificate. Ex. 9. In Section 38, manner of death, "accidental" was first checked. It

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Until the Coroner was notified and declined jurisdiction, the actions of PeaceHealth were controlled by RCW 68.50.010, which was activated by Dr. Zastrow's decision to contact the coroner, RCW 68.50.020, which required immediate notification of the coroner before doing anything, and RCW 68.50.030, which prohibited the moving of Rodenbeck's body and/or the disposal of his blood.

was later changed by Dr. Zastrow to "natural." In Section 14, the immediate cause of death was whited out and changed to "unspecified natural causes." *Id.* Dr. Zastrow, on cross-examination, testified as to her changes to Rodenbeck's death certificate as follows:

Q. On the original I'll represent to you that it does appear that the first line was written over some whiteout. Do you specifically recall making any changes to that death certificate? A. It clearly looks like I put whiteout on this document and if you're asking me what exactly I wrote down on a piece of paper almost three years ago the answer is no. . . .

#### RP 1344.

Q. Do you know if you checked "accident" before you circled "natural" or did you check "accident" after you circled "natural"?

A. I don't remember which one I checked first.

#### RP 1446-47.

On September 4, 2012, after completing its legally required investigation, PeaceHealth reported to the Washington Department of Health that PeaceHealth concluded Rodenbeck's death was an accidental fall resulting in his death, an adverse event.<sup>3</sup> CP 1137-38. PeaceHealth concluded Rodenbeck's death was a "Serious Reportable Event" (SRE). CP 1137-38. A SRE is defined as "an incident involving death or serious

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> "Adverse events are medical errors that healthcare facilities could and should have avoided. . . . The events may result in patient death . . ." Washington State Department of Health website.

harm to a patient resulting from a lapse or error in a health care facility." RP 2222; RP 2405.

Dr. Owings performed an autopsy. His August 20, 2012, report contained the following history and conclusion(s):

This patient with known peripheral vascular disease was taken to surgery for aortobifemoral bypass grafting. Surgery was successful and the patient was recovering but then a few days after surgery was found late in the evening deceased on the floor of his room with some blood on the floor . . . [I]t is felt that most likely death resulted from a dysrhythmia . . . complicated by the perisurgical and postsurgical blood loss and other stresses. It is not possible to accurately assign significance to the blood loss through the disconnected central line, though that may have contributed to the development of, or possible sustaining of, a fatal dysrhythmia.

#### Ex. 8. (Emphasis added.)

Rodenbeck's heart stopped beating.<sup>4</sup> The heart stops beating when it lacks sufficient oxygen carried by the blood. Judge Garrett did not allow Dr. Owings to testify at trial. Long made an offer of proof regarding the testimony of Dr. Owings. RP 2049; RP 2051; Ex. 79.

During Dr. Zastrow's testimony, she was reviewing notes in her lap, which she prepared after a conversation with counsel for PeaceHealth. RP 1387. Long asked to see the notes. Judge Garrett examined:

7

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> "His dysrhythmia or arrhythmia, the stopping of his heart, originated from the blood loss due to the line being disconnected and he bled out on the floor." RP 307. Long retained expert Dr. Coleman.

THE COURT: All right. Doctor, these are notes that you made in preparation for your testimony today?

DR. ZASTROW: Yes, they are.

THE COURT: Okay. And they are informal notes that you made for yourself?

DR. ZASTROW: They are informal notes that I made as Mr. Fox and I were discussing some of the nuances of the testimony that's already been given and my thoughts about the conclusions that were drawn or made.

THE COURT: Okay. And were your notes based on the chart that you see on this slide show there, I don't remember the exhibit number?

DR. ZASTROW: Yes, yes.

THE COURT: The exhibit may be marked.

MR. SHEPHERD: Your Honor, could we ask the jury to please

go out for a second based upon --

THE COURT: Okay, ladies and gentlemen, it shouldn't be long.

RP 1395. There followed a long discussion which included a request by Long to see the notes prepared and reviewed by Dr. Zastrow before testifying the second day. RP 1395-1422. After argument, Judge Garrett marked and sealed, as Exhibit 64, a note reviewed but never provided to Long. RP 1423. Long moved for a mistrial. RP 1416. The motion was denied. RP 1417-18.

The lost blood evidence was the subject matter of unsuccessful pretrial and trial motions, including spoliation. CP 1244; CP 2237. Long's proposed trial instruction on spoliation was not given by Judge Garrett. CP 2266. Dr. Quigley was a PeaceHealth retained expert who had no personal knowledge of the events. Although PeaceHealth cleaned up the blood on the floor without any attempt to take pictures or preserve

the evidence, PeaceHealth asked Dr. Quigley if the amount of blood on the floor was enough to be an actual cause of Rodenbeck's death. RP 1636. Dr. Quigley answered "absolutely not." *Id.* PeaceHealth then asked, "why not?" *Id.* 

Dr. Quigley was of the opinion that it took an awful lot of blood loss to result in an "otherwise normal person's" death. *Id.* He then made up, out of whole cloth, that the blood on the floor included IV fluids. *Id.* Dr. Quigley then said that he was "guessing" as to the amount of blood on the floor. The following then occurred:

MR. SHEPHERD: Your Honor, it's not appropriate for the witness to guess for this jury. I move to strike his last answer. THE COURT: I'll overrule. I think the witness was using vernacular as opposed to speculation.

RP 1636. Further, when PeaceHealth rested, it was clear that Dr. Quigley lacked an appropriate foundation for the above opinion. Judge Garrett took it upon herself to resolve this issue:

MR. FOX: Thank you. Those are all my questions.

THE COURT: I have one question, Doctor, and that is, I don't know the technical jargon, you indicated that you're understanding, you indicated that amount of blood that was noted at the scene was not extensive in your view.

DR. QUIGLEY: Yes.

THE COURT: What's your understanding, obviously you weren't there so you're relying on information from other sources on what the amount of blood was, and what I want to know is that's your information about what the amount of blood was?

DR. QUIGLEY: Well, someone described, <u>I forget</u>, I really apologize, two inches around the head, which is frankly a trivial amount of blood and fluid. And someone else said it was less than a can of soda, which would be less than two of these put together and that's not enough blood to cause death, it just isn't.

THE COURT: Uh-huh, okay. So the information that you've got comes from your reading of the chart notes?

DR. QUIGLEY: Depositions.

THE COURT: And from the depositions.

DR. QUIGLEY: Actually from the depositions. I don't remember recall reading anything in the chart that said anything about blood loss. These were from eyewitnesses who were there and saw the patient and the amount of blood around his head.

THE COURT: Okav.

MR. FOX: Your Honor that triggers a couple follow ups for me on this subject.

RP 1639-40. (Emphasis added.)

PeaceHealth's next witness was Stacy McInnis regarding the electronic record keeping of PeaceHealth. Judge Garrett allowed Long to exam Ms. McInnis without the jury present to see if she had a foundation for any of her testimony. RP 1695. Judge Garrett then examined Ms. McInnis. RP 1699-1706. Judge Garrett then objected to a follow up question by Long's counsel. RP 1707. Another difficult exchange took place. RP 1707-1710. Long then moved for a new trial arguing the Judge Garrett had taken over the case. RP 1710. Long's second motion for a new trial was denied. RP 1711.

The above actions and comments of Judge Garrett were followed by additional difficult comments by Judge Garrett regarding PeaceHealth's first testifying retained expert, Nurse Hobson. RP 1481.

Nurse Hobson, was a co-author of a publication titled "A Practical Tool to Reduce Medication Errors During Patient Transfer from An Intensive Care Unit." *Id.* Included in Nurse Hobson's writing was the following:

[Patient safety must become a systems property as opposed to a personal responsibility. . . Patients are especially vulnerable to medication errors during handoff periods, such as at admission or transfer from one unit to another. **This vulnerability is a result of poor communication between care teams.** . . . The intervention (communication) also has wide applicability, including **all inpatient hospital transfers** 

Ex. 69. (Emphasis added.) During cross examination, the following exchange between Long's counsel and Judge Garrett occurred.

THE CLERK: Plaintiff's Exhibit 69 is marked.

- Q. (BY MR. SHEPHERD) I'm going to hand you what's been marked as Exhibit No. 69. Have you seen this article before?
- A. Yeah, my name is on it.
- Q. Is it a learned publication?
- A. Is this in publication?
- O. Yes.
- A. Yes.
- Q. Did you write in 2004 the following: "What is" --
- A. I was one of the authors, is that what you're asking?
- Q. Yeah.

MR. SHEPHERD: May I approach, Your Honor, and show her where I'm going to begin?

THE COURT: You may approach.

MS. HOBSON: This is over ten years old.

Q. (BY MR. SHEPHERD) Why don't you read it to yourself to begin with starting right there "one of the institute of medicine's ten rules for health care system redesign", you see that?

A. So is there a question.

MR. FOX: Your Honor, we're way beyond the scope.

THE COURT: Where are we going with this?

MS. HOBSON: This is medication reconciliation.

THE COURT: Is there a concern in the case about medication that was given to Mr. Rodenbeck when he arrives.

MR. SHEPHERD: There is concern about poor communication between care teams and --

THE COURT: But, no, you're reading from the document. Why is this relevant?

MR. SHEPHERD: Because she testified that all nurses have to do is tell the patient not to get out of bed and they have complied with the standard of care.

THE COURT: I have read this article yesterday, it seem to be about medication.<sup>5</sup>

MR. SHEPHERD: Your Honor, I'd like the jury out of here before I argue with the Court.

THE COURT: I'm going to ask you to move on and so that you can utilize the time that we have. This line of questioning we'll discuss in private and may resume it with Ms. Hobson telephonically if that's necessary.

RP 1531-33. (Emphasis added.)

Judge Elich determined that Judge Garrett's above comments were in violation of Washington State's Constitution. However, Judge Elich did not have the benefit of the entire transcript so he made no finding regarding prejudice. The Division 1 Opinion does not discuss this finding of Judge Elich.<sup>6</sup>

After Rodenbeck died, but before he was allegedly found, four PeaceHealth employees, including a Dr. Beiser at 11:54 p.m., were in his electronic medical records. Ex. 37. After Rodenbeck was found dead,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The undersigned counsel then and now has no idea how Judge Garrett saw Exhibit 69 a day earlier because it had not been previously provided, marked or discussed.

more than a dozen PeaceHealth employees were in Rodenbeck's medical records, almost continuously until Dr. Zastrow logged out at 7:04 p.m., on August 13, 2012. Ex. 37. When PeaceHealth reported to the State of Washington Department of Health that Rodenbeck had fallen in its hospital and bled to death on the floor, it was well aware of the facts and circumstances of Rodenbeck's death.

## E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

Under RAP 13.4(b)(3), review will be accepted if a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved. This present case presents a question of first impression whether a trial court's questions of a witness, and words in response to those questions in front of a jury can be "meaningless expression(s), and not fall within the constitutional prohibition on judicial comments on the evidence.

Under RAP 13.4(b)(1), review will be accepted if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a Supreme Court decision. The decision of the appellate court is in direct conflict with existing Supreme Court decisions.

13

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> "1.16 The trial courts' comments were not made during a ruling on the admissibility of Exhibit 69. As there was no immediate ruling to explain, the statements at issue are, and were, comments on the evidence." CP 587; Appendix B-6.

"Art. IV, § 16 prohibits a judge from conveying to the jury his or her personal attitudes toward the merits of the case." *State v. Becker*, 132 Wn.2d 54, 64, 935 P.2d 1321 (1997). Judge Garrett's personal feelings on an issue need not be stated clearly. "[I]t is sufficient if they are merely implied." *State v. Levy*, 156 Wn.2d 709, 721, 132 P.3d 1076 (2006). "An impermissible comment is one which conveys to the jury a judge's personal attitudes toward the merits of the case or allows the jury to infer from what the judge said or did not say that the judge personally believed or disbelieved the particular testimony in question." *Hamilton v. Department of Labor and Industries of State of Wash.*, 111 Wn.2d 569, 571, 761 P.2d 618 (1988).

Judge Garrett asked important foundation questions of Dr. Quigley involving a central, disputed factual issue on causation - the amount of blood on the floor. The amount of blood and PeaceHealth's spoliation of evidence was the subject matter of several pre-trial motions. Long argued lack of foundation repeatedly from pre-trial motions through trial. Judge Garrett presided over substantial pre-trial motions and was aware of the issue(s). For reasons known only to her and without explanation, when PeaceHealth ended its examination of Dr. Quigley, Judge Garrett inserted herself into the role of an attorney advocate.

After Judge Garrett finished her questioning of Dr. Quigley with regard to the amount of blood on the floor and his opinions, she concluded with "okay." That word, since well before 1900, has the following meaning: "Approval, agreement . . . approve of or agree to . . . Used to express approval or agreement." *The American Heritage college dic-tion-ar-y* Third Edition, Haughton, Mifflin Company (1997).

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