FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/28/2017 2:38 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 94887-9

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MILTON LONG, individually, and as Personal Representative of the ESTATE OF DONALD RODENBECK,

Petitioner,

v.

PEACEHEALTH dba PEACEHEALTH ST. JOSEPH MEDICAL CENTER, a Washington Non-Profit Corporation,

Respondent.

## ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Mary H. Spillane, WSBA #11981 Jennifer D. Koh, WSBA #25464 FAIN ANDERSON VANDERHOEF ROSENDAHL O'HALLORAN SPILLANE, PLLC 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 4750 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 749-0094 Attorneys for Respondent

##

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

THE COURT: Uh-huh, okay. So the information that you've got comes from your reading of the chart notes?

DR. QUIGLEY: Depositions.

THE COURT: And from the depositions.

DR. QUIGLEY: Actually from the depositions. I don't remember reading anything in the chart that said anything about blood loss. These were from eye-witnesses who were there and saw the patient and the amount of blood around his head.

THE COURT: Okay.

RP 1639-40. Mr. Long's counsel did not object to Judge Garrett's questioning of Dr. Quigley at the time, *see id.*, at the ensuing break to deal with an objection to one of PeaceHealth's follow-up questions, *see* RP 1642-44, or at any time prior to the filing of Mr. Long's reply on motion for new trial. After PeaceHealth completed its follow-up questions, Mr. Long's counsel, as he did with other witnesses, *see* 1358-60, 1372, 1375-

76, 1450-51, 1956-59, 2470-71, cross-examined Dr. Quigley, questioning the accuracy of, and pointing out the variations in, the eyewitness accounts of the amount of blood on the floor, RP 1651-53, 1658-59.

Having heard the testimony of more than twenty witnesses over ten trial days, *see* CP 26-46, the jury returned a special verdict in favor of PeaceHealth, answering "Yes" to the question whether PeaceHealth was negligent, but "No" to the question whether such negligence was a proximate cause of Mr. Rodenbeck's death. CP 46, 71-73.

Mr. Long moved for a new trial, alleging errors in jury selection, jury instructions, exclusion of rebuttal evidence, and admission of expert testimony, lack of substantial evidence supporting the verdict, and "repeated comments on the evidence." CP 148. For his alleged comments on the evidence, he cited only a transcript excerpt where he tried to crossexamine a defense nursing expert about Exhibit 69, an article on medication reconciliation she had written. CP 148, 152, 184-89, 262. When PeaceHealth objected to the attempt to cross-examine about Exhibit 69, Judge Garrett, noting that the article "seem[s] to be about medication," asked about its relevance and whether there was a concern in the case about medication given to Mr. Rodenbeck. CP 187-88. Ex. 69 was not admitted into evidence. CP 2258. It was not until his reply on motion for new trial that Mr. Long first asserted that Judge Garrett's questioning of Dr. Quigley was a comment on the evidence.<sup>6</sup> See CP 295-96.

At the hearing on the motion for new trial, Judge Garrett responded to Mr. Long's comment on the evidence claims, indicating that the allegations "surprised" her, the alleged comments "don't sound like comments on the evidence to me," and she did not "recall having any opinion to comment on, much less commenting on the evidence." 8/21/15 RP 7. Judge Garrett denied the motion for new trial, *id.* at 14; CP 299-300, 301-02,<sup>7</sup> but, at Mr. Long's insistence that she recuse on the alleged comments on the evidence, referred those claimed incidents to the presiding judge on "existing briefing only," 8/21/15 RP 14-16; CP 298, 302.

Whatcom County District Court Judge Matthew Elich, serving pro tem in the superior court, ultimately heard argument on the alleged comments on the evidence. CP 303; 9/9/15 RP 4-84. At the end of the hearing, Judge Elich indicated that he would get a transcript of the day's hearing, invited the parties to submit supplemental briefing, which they did, *see* CP 326-45, 346-55, and stated that, after reviewing those

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> It was not until the hearing on the motion for new trial before Judge Garrett that Mr. Long added a third alleged comment on the evidence based on Judge Garrett's response to his objection to a reference Dr. Quigley made to "guessing" in which she stated that she thought Dr. Quigley was using "vernacular." 8/21/15 RP 7-8, *see* RP 1635-36. Although he had cited the "guessing" excerpt from Dr. Quigley's testimony in his reply on motion for new trial, he did so to claim that a new trial should be granted because of admission of speculative expert testimony, not because it involved any alleged comment on the evidence. *See* CP 293-94.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Although Mr. Long initially filed an appeal from Judge Garrett's order denying his motion for new trial, Mr. Long subsequently voluntarily withdrew that appeal. *See Long v. PeaceHealth*, Court of Appeals No. 74033-9-I.

materials, he would decide whether or not he needed to review the entire trial transcript. 9/9/15 RP 80-81. Without obtaining or reviewing the entire transcript, Judge Elich subsequently filed his memorandum opinion granting a new trial, CP 572-79, and later entered a supplemental order incorporating the memorandum into findings of fact and conclusions of law, CP 562-71. His grant of a new trial was based only Judge Garrett's questioning of Dr. Quigley which he concluded was a prejudicial comment on the evidence. CP 572-79, 562-71.<sup>8</sup>

PeaceHealth timely appealed Judge Elich's order granting a new trial. CP 580. Division I reversed, concluding that Judge Garrett did not comment on the evidence in questioning Dr. Quigley. Slip Op. at 12.

#### V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Under RAP 13.4(b), a petition for review will be accepted only:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Mr. Long erroneously claims, *Pet. at 12, 16-17*, Judge Elich found that Judge Garrett commented on the evidence not only in her questioning of Dr. Quigley, but also in asking Mr. Long's counsel about the relevance of his attempt to question Nurse Hobson about Ex. 69, but that Judge Elich made no finding regarding prejudice with respect to the latter. Yet, with regard to Ex. 69, although Judge Elich found that "[a]s there was no ruling to explain, the statements at issue are, and were, comments on the evidence," CP 587 (Finding of Fact 1.16), he went on to find that "[t]here is not sufficient information contained in the record before this court to determine that the statements made by the trial court either directly or implicitly conveyed to the jury the trial court's personal opinion regarding it," CP 587 (Finding of Fact 1.17) and concluded that "[p]laintiff did not meet his burden to prove that the trial court's comments on Exhibit #69 made before the jury conveyed the trial court's personal opinion about that evidence," CP 590 (Conclusion of Law 2.4).

(2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or

(3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or

(4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Here, Mr. Long cites only RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (3) as his purported grounds for seeking review. Because the Court of Appeals decision is not in conflict with any decision of this Court so as to warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), and because no significant question of law under either the state or federal constitution is involved so as to warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(3), this Court should deny Mr. Long's petition for review.

A. <u>The Court of Appeals Decision Is Not in Conflict with Any</u> <u>Decision of This Court</u>.

Mr. Long asserts, *Pet. at 13*, the Court of Appeals decision "is in direct conflict with existing Supreme Court decisions," but never explains how it conflicts with any particular Supreme Court decision. The mere assertion of a conflict does not make it so.

Here, consistent with decisions of this Court, the Court of Appeals appropriately recognized, among other things, that (1) whether a trial judge's utterances constitute an improper comment on the evidence is a constitutional question subject to de novo review, Slip Op. at 5 (citing *State v. Woods*, 143 Wn.2d 561, 590-91, 23 P.3d 1046 (2001)); (2) there is

nothing irregular about a trial judge questioning a witness or posing clarifying questions to a witness, Slip Op. at 5-6 (citing Egede-Nissen v. Crystal Mountain, Inc., 93 Wn.2d 127, 140, 606 P.2d 1214 (1980); Dennis v. McArthur, 23 Wn.2d 33, 37-38, 158 P.2d 644 (1945), overruled on other grounds by State v. Davis, 41 Wn.2d 535, 537, 250 P.2d 548 (1952); State v. Brown, 31 Wn.2d 475, 487, 197 P.2d 590, 202 P.2d 461 (1948)); (3) the constitutional prohibition of comments on the evidence is violated when the judge's utterances "imply to the jury an expression of the judge's opinion concerning disputed evidence, or the court's attitude towards the merits of the cause," Slip Op. at 5 (citing Hansen v. Wightman, 14 Wn. App. 78, 85, 538 P.2d 1238 (1975) (citing State v. Carothers, 84 Wn.2d 256, 267, 525 P.2d 731 (1974); State v. Jacobsen, 78 Wn.2d 491, 495, 477 P.2d 1 (1970); Risley v. Moberg, 69 Wn.2d 560, 565, 419 P.2d 151 (1966), overruled on other grounds by Bowman v. Two, 104 Wn.2d 181, 186, 704 P.2d 140 (1985)); and (4) to rise to the level of a constitutionally prohibited comment on the evidence, "the judge's opinion or attitude must be 'reasonably inferable from the nature or manner of the questions asked and things said," Slip Op. at 5 (citing Dennis, 23 Wn.2d at 38). The Court of Appeals then applied those principles in reviewing de novo Judge Garret's utterances in her questioning of Dr. Quigley, Slip Op. at 7-9, and properly found that she did not comment on the evidence as "[n]o reasonable juror would be believe that these utterances revealed any judicial opinion of or attitude toward [Dr. Quigley's] testimony," Slip Op. at 12.

None of this Court's "comment on the evidence" cases Mr. Long cites are in conflict with the Court of Appeals' decision in this case. For example, Mr. Long, *Pet. at 16*, cites *Case v. Peterson*, 17 Wn.2d 523, 531, 136 P.2d 192 (1943), for the non-controversial proposition that "Washington State's constitution prohibits the trial judge from commenting on disputed facts." The Court of Appeals did not hold otherwise. It merely determined that Judge Garrett's utterances in questioning Dr. Quigley did not reveal her personal opinion or attitude toward any evidence or the credibility of any witness, and thus did not constitute a comment on the evidence. That Mr. Long disputed the accuracy of eyewitness accounts as to the amount of blood on the floor does not render Judge Garrett's questioning of Dr. Quigley a judicial comment on disputed facts.

As an additional example, Mr. Long cites *Risley*, 69 Wn.2d at 565, for the equally non-controversial proposition that "[w]hen a judge's questions appear to assume the existence of evidence which is disputed, or appear 'personally to corroborate and seemingly to indorse the credibility' of a party or its expert witness, the judge improperly comments on the evidence." Again, the Court of Appeals did not hold otherwise. Rather it carefully considered and distinguished *Risley*, and concluded that Judge Garrett's questioning of him did not assume the existence of disputed evidence, "did no more than clarify testimony already given," and did not reveal "her attitudes or opinions of the testimony or of the legitimacy of either party's case." Slip Op. at 10-12.

Mr. Long citations to this Court's "comment on the evidence" pronouncements in *State v. Becker*, 132 W.2d 54, 64, 935 P.2d 1321 (1997), *Pet. at 14*; *State v. Levy*, 156 Wn.2d 709, 721, 723, 132 P.3d 1076 (2006), *Pet. at 14*, 16; *Hamilton v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 111 Wn.2d 569, 571, 761 P.2d 618 (1988), *Pet. at 14*; or *State v. Bogner*, 62 Wn.2d 247, 252, 382 P.2d 254 (1963), *Pet. at 17*, are equally unavailing and do not establish the existence of any conflict between those decisions and the Court of Appeals decision in this case. The Court of Appeals did not contradict any of those pronouncements. It hewed to them and found that Judge Garrett's utterances did not convey her personal attitudes toward the merits of the case, or allow the jury to infer from what she said or didn't say that she personally believed or disbelieved the testimony in question.

The Court of Appeals decision is simply not in conflict with any decision of this Court so as to warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

### B. No Significant Question of Constitutional Law is Involved.

Mr. Long also asserts, *Pet. at 13*, the Court of Appeals decision "presents a question of first impression whether a trial court's questions of

a witness, and words in response to those questions in front of a jury can be 'meaningless['] expression(s), and not fall within the constitutional prohibition on judicial comments on the evidence." Yet, the Court of Appeals did not say that Judge Garrett's clarifying questions of Dr. Quigley were "meaningless." It found that nothing in those questions contained any reasonably inferable indication of Judge Garrett's opinion or attitude as to the merits of the case or the credibility of any witness so as to constitute a constitutionally prohibited comment on the evidence. Slip Op. at 7-9. The only utterance the Court of Appeals found meaningless was Judge Garrett's use of the word "Okay" when she had finished questioning Dr. Quigley, a filler word<sup>9</sup> the Court of Appeals found she had used no less than 21 times in front of the jury that day, Slip Op. at 9, and a filler word Judge Garrett, PeaceHealth's counsel, and Mr. Long's counsel together had used more than 200 times that day. *See* RP 1554-1835.

Citing inapposite cases concerning the need to give words their ordinary meaning or dictionary definitions in interpreting statutes or contracts, *Pet. at 15* (citing *Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, L.L.C.*, 146 Wn.2d 1, 10, 43 P.3d 4 (2002); *HomeStreet, Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 166 Wn.2d 444, 451, 210 P.3d 297 (2009); *Boeing Co. v. Aetna* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> "A *filler word* is an apparently meaningless word, phrase, or sound that marks a pause or hesitation in speech. Also known as a *pause filler* or *hesitation form*." <u>https://www.thoughtco.com/what-is-a-filler-word-1690859</u>.

Casualty & Sur. Co., 113 Wn.2d 869, 877, 784 P.2d 507 (1990)), Mr. Long asserts that the Court of Appeals was required to give Judge Garret's use of the word "Okay" at the end of her questioning of Dr. Quigley its dictionary definition of expression of approval or agreement.<sup>10</sup> But, beside the fact that the Court of Appeals was not interpreting a statute or contract, Mr. Long's assertion ignores the fact that "Okay" is commonly used in spoken English as a filler word when pausing, hesitating, or transitioning from one topic to another.<sup>11</sup> Indeed, if use of the word "Okay" in questioning a witness must be construed only as an expression of agreement or approval with what the witness said, then Mr. Long's counsel and PeaceHealth's counsel on innumerable occasions in this trial were guilty of expressing their approval of witnesses' answers on both direct and cross-examination, given the many numbers of times they said "Okay" after a witness finished his or her answer and before they asked their next question.

Mr. Long asserts, *Pet. at 15*, that the Court of Appeals' determination that Judge Garrett's use of the word "Okay" at the end of her ques-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Mr. Long, without citation to supporting authority also asserts, *Pet at 15*, that "[t]he law assumes jurors also give the words used in the courtroom the proper meaning" and "look to the dictionary" to determine the meaning of a word. But, jurors are not encouraged to look to the dictionary to determine the meaning of words, and in some cases, may commit prejudicial misconduct warranting a new trial if they do so. *See, e.g., Adkins v. Aluminum Co. of Am.*, 110 Wn.2d128, 137-38, 750 P.2d 1257 (1988). <sup>11</sup> *See* footnote 9, *supra.* 

tioning of Dr. Quigley was a "meaningless expression" has somehow "carried the law in Washington to where it has never been before and should never go." Setting aside his dramatic hyperbole, Mr. Long's assertion ignores that in *State v. Hansen*, 46 Wn. App. 292, 301, 730 P.2d 706 (1986), in a different context, the Court of Appeals described another judge's remark as "ambiguous and for that reason quite meaningless."

The Court of Appeals' determination that Judge Garret's use of the word "Okay" was a "meaningless expression" was not erroneous and does not alter existing Washington law. Nor does it present a question of law, much less a significant one, under the state or federal constitution so as to warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

#### VI. CONCLUSION

For all these reasons, the Petition for Review should be denied.